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BASIC DETAILS 

 

Built: approximately 1770 

Repaired and furnished: 1988 

Architect: Stewart Tod and Partners, Edinburgh 

Builder: Barwick Brothers, Gilsland, Northumberland 

Thatcher: John Warner, Brandon, Warwickshire 
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Summary 
 
Causeway House lies in the Northumberland National Park at the side of the 
road leading down to the Roman Fort of Vindolanda. It is a rare surviving 
example of a building thatched with heather, a feature once fairly common in 
upland areas and is now the only one left in Northumberland. 
 
The house and its adjoining buildings were built in 1770, the date marked on the 
carved shield at the centre of the front door lintel. It was possibly built for the 
Thompsons of Tow House - it was common to put a husband and wife’s initials 
on their new house and this could be the T R.A in the plaque. 
 
Aligned east-west, facing south, Causeway House comprises a two-storeyed 
main block, with, on the left, a byre and granary above, and a single-storeyed 
attached stable/loose box on the right. Its walls are constructed of neatly 
coursed sandstone, with the corners tied by alternating quoins, which project 
slightly from the wall face, as do the plain architraves of the doors and 
windows. The gabled roof has triangular sandstone blocks set like reversed 
crowsteps to form the verge.  The roof pitch is steep at 50º, a common feature 
of thatched structures and necessary to ensure effective drainage. 
 
The house itself was comprised of a ground floor kitchen/living room with a 
single front window providing the natural lighting downstairs. This is a tall 4-
pane sash window set into an opening which has clearly been increased in size 
at some stage. Upstairs there was a chamber divided into two with one window 
for the landing and one for the bedroom.  
 
Against the gable wall stands a kitchen range surrounded by a plain lintel and 
jambs. The range bears the date 1912 and was supplied by John Liddel and 
Sons of Haltwhistle. The oven, on the right, is set above the level of the fire 
which is a common feature on northern English ranges. 
 
The upstairs chamber was divided into two rooms by a plank partition set up 
against the roof truss. Both rooms had planked wainscotting covered with 
wallpaper. To the right of the chimney breast was a built-in cupboard lined with 
sheets of the Newcastle Journal of 27th May 1947. 
 
From the landing, a flap could be lowered over the stairwell thus allowing 
access to the granary via the simple plank door in the dividing wall. This room is 
lit by a single sash window and has a loading door in the west gable. There are 
three internally splayed slit vents in the rear wall. Surprisingly the foot of the 
principal roof truss sits directly above the window. The rafters are made from 
branches or roughly spit sections of tree trunk nailed onto the horizontal purlins. 
Some are full length reaching from wall to ridge, while in other places there are 
two levels of rafters, all set close together. 
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Underneath the granary is the byre, with a north-south through passage and 
stalling for 12 cattle. The concrete flooring is raised above the central walkway, 
down which runs a groove to drain urine out through the front door. Ventilation 
is again provided by slits in the walls.  
 
RESTORATION BY THE LANDMARK TRUST 
 
When the Trust acquired Causeway House from Mr & Mrs Wanless in 1988 it 
had been abandoned as a house for over 20 years and was just used as a store. 
It had therefore survived with very little alteration. The various outhouses were 
removed, and working with Stewart Tod & Partners, our architects, a new single 
storey kitchen and bathroom block was added to the rear, with a lobby and door 
to outside, all under a handsome stone tiled roof. This meant that the original 
kitchen/living room could be used just as a sitting room. The chimney stack, 
which had had a brick top in 1988, was rebuilt in stone. 
 
Upstairs the partition was removed to create a single large double bedroom 
boarded on the walls and ceiling, and by making a new doorway through to the 
granary at the head of the stairs, a twin bedroom was formed. The latter, 
though difficult to keep warm, allows you to sleep under the knotted tent-like 
thatch.  
 
The heather thatch roof was still preserved beneath a later corrugated iron 
cover. Although heather was always widely available, it was seldom used once 
slate became a cheap alternative in the 19th century. 
 
One of the first jobs was to remove this old thatch, known locally as ‘Black 
Thack.’ An unusual collection of items was discovered - a child’s clog shoe, an 
iron key, a pewter table spoon, an iron hook and four cotton dresses - working 
clothes of about 1890-1900. Several of these items may have been deposited 
as good luck charms. 
 
To re-thatch the roof vast quantities of long-stemmed heather were required. 
The Forestry Commission offered a site that was intended for burning and 
planting, and an entire acre was stripped by using powered cutters as well as 
pulled in the traditional way. The heather was two feet long on average, and 
bound into ‘loggins’ and thence into ‘threaves’ (25 loggins), it totalled four large 
high-sided lorry loads. 
 
Originally the closely-spaced roof timbers would have first been overlaid with 
hand dug ‘divots’, and so the modern equivalent - lawn turf, was used laid 
‘green-side’ down to stop the drying soil falling out. The thatching, carried out 
by master thatcher John Warner, started at the eaves and progressed to the 
ridge in horizontal courses. Although the thatch at the eaves has no apparent 
thickness, it is actually up to two feet thick. Each course was fixed with modern 
thatching hooks securing an iron bar or ‘sway’ to hold the heather in place onto 
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the rafters. Heather is a material which is laid ‘upside down’ compared to other 
materials in that the root end is placed on the inside against the turf. 
 
The ridge, which needs the longest lengths of heather, was held in place with 
long hazel and willow spars used like giant hair-pins. After clipping the rough 
ends, it was finally dressed with a layer of turf, green side up, which is a 
traditional way of finishing Northumbrian roofs. Finally the thatch was given a 
protective layer of black mesh that at first was secured by spars positioned in 
the hollows that form on heather roofs. Unfortunately, this made the roof look 
like a giant buttoned sofa and so the spars were all moved to the ‘hills.’ This 
looked much better and the result was a roof that lasted some 20 years.  In 
2008, this whole process was repeated, still using heather, but this time done 
by Stephen Letch who looks after several other Landmark thatched buildings in 
East Anglia. He specialises in long-straw thatching, which is a less commonly-
used form of thatching these days, but not dissimilar to how a heather thatch 
roof is laid. 
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Historical background 

 

Causeway House was built in 1770, according to the date carved in the stone 

above the door. It is a rare survival: a yeoman’s farmhouse, with living quarters 

at one end and a cow byre at the other, and is believed to be one of the oldest 

farmhouses in the county. The stone that carries the date also bears the initials 

‘T.R.A’, which suggest that it may have been built by the Thompsons of Tow 

Law, who are known to have owned it more recently. It is possible that the 

initials R. and A. are those of the husband and wife, as it was common practice 

to inscribe them on the date stone of a new house. 

 

Mr Norman Emery of Durham University, a copy of whose paper on Causeway 

House  (Archaeologia Aeliana, XVIII, 131–149) is in this album, discovered a 

certain amount about the previous owners in the Haltwhistle Parish Records, and 

Miss Wailes-Wilson, who lived here as a child, has told us about some of the 

more recent owners. 

 

According to the Parish Records, a yeoman called William Pattison and his wife 

Eleanor lived at Causeway House in the early nineteenth century; they were 

succeeded by a shepherd named William Thompson and his wife Jane. 

 

Miss Wailes-Wilson says that William and Jane Thompson were followed by Mr J. 

Thompson. This Mr Thompson also owned two other farms not far away, 

Cranberry Brow Farm and Tow House Farm, which was later known as The Fold. 

In 1919 Causeway House was sold to Mr Thompson’s cousin Jack Wilson, who 

lived at The Fold and who was Miss Wailes-Wilson’s uncle. Mr Wilson died during 

the 1920s, and Miss Wailes-Wilson’s mother, with her two daughters, went to 

live at Causeway House to look after the farm. In about 1948 Jack Wilson’s 

widow sold it to Mr J Tweedale and Mr H Bell, who bought it jointly. 
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In the 1960s the house was bought by Mr and Mrs Wanless, she having lived 

there as a girl. They built a bungalow to the east of the house and lived there, 

with the byre and hay loft continuing in use and the old house serving as a cattle 

shed and store. Causeway House was therefore never modernised. 

 

When the Landmark Trust bought the house in 1988, it had stood almost 

unchanged since its building more than two centuries before. In about 1910 

sheets of corrugated iron had been laid over the heather thatch, to keep out the 

rain. The big kitchen range is dated 1912, and it is likely that both the range and 

the fireplace in the bedroom were put in at the same time, soon after that date. It 

was probably not long after that that the chimney, which would have originally 

been stone, was rebuilt in brick. 

 

When Mr Jack Wilson bought the house in 1919 he added a lean-to scullery at 

the back. Inside the house he built the present staircase, which replaced a spiral 

stair positioned approximately where the cupboard is now, at about the middle of 

the west wall. At some time the stone flag floor in the sitting-room was replaced 

by cement. During the late 1960s Mr Wanless put a new wooden floor into the 

hay loft, keeping the old trap door. 

 

The Restoration 

 

When the house came into the hands of the Landmark Trust it was structurally in 

reasonably good order, except for the masonry at the south-west corner. Here 

there was a crack; since the house had been built almost without foundations, 

this was worsened every time a bus went past the house.  Eventually it was 

decided that the only solution was to take the corner down, numbering each 

stone individually, and to fill the core with concrete and rebuild it. The first floor 

window into the hay loft, looking south, was also rebuilt. The door at the west 

end of the hay loft was converted into a window. The brick chimney, which had 

become ruinous, was replaced in stone as in the original building. 
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The frames of the roof, the trusses and the purlins were sound, but about a third 

of the rafters had to be replaced. They are mostly oak, with some hawthorn. The 

new rafters were brought from near Carlisle. The heather thatch (‘black thatch’) 

under the corrugated iron was in fairly good condition; but it was decided that it 

too had to be replaced. Most of the fresh heather brought in for the renewal was 

pulled up by hand from a Forestry Commission wood north of Rothbury, two or 

three months before the thatching started in July 1989. That summer was 

exceptionally dry, and it was necessary to use a sprinkler on the heather to make 

it pliable enough for use. On the main roof, two layers of turf were laid beneath 

the thatch. The whole operation is described in interesting detail by Mr Norman 

Emery and the thatcher, Mr John Warner, later in this album. 
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During the restoration some interesting objects came to light: the sole of a child’s 

wooden clog, a pewter spoon and parts of four cotton dresses. Mr Emery 

describes the found objects in detail. (Odd shoes were often placed in roofs or 

under floors to avert evil – others have been found at other Landmarks like the 

Wardrobe in Salisbury and Shore Cottages, Caithness.) The dresses, which after 

much wear had been extensively patched and mended, had been stuffed into the 

thatch, possibly to exclude draughts. They are now part of the costume collection 

of the Discovery Museum, Newcastle upon Tyne. 

 

 

  

One of two dresses found stuffed into the thatch at 
Causeway House, after cleaning and restoration by 

Tyne and Wear Museums. 
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The other dress found in the thatch. 
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Some of the farm buildings that were later demolished. 

 

 

Thatching in progress during the summer 1989, before the bungalow was 
removed.  
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Roofers going onto the stable roof.  
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Thatching the south side.
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The turf under the thatch is laid green side down. 

 

 
John Warner thatching  
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The thatch was 16-24” thick. 

The ridge was dressed with a layer 
of turf green side up. 
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Changes outside the house 

 

The old Roman road to Vindolanda, later known as the Stanegate, passes within 

a few feet of the front door of Causeway House. The new road built above it has 

been diverted a few yards to the south, away from the house. There is known to 

be a burial ground somewhere near here, and it was hoped that interesting finds 

might be uncovered when the digging started, or at least that the Roman ditches 

might be recognisable and the width of the road determined. Nothing much 

turned up, however. A description of the excavation is to be found in the house. 

 

Extensive modern outhouses were demolished on the north side of the house 

away from the road. So too was the Wanlesses’ modern bungalow to the east. 

The electric cables were run underground. 
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Memories of Causeway House 

 

Miss Wailes-Wilson 

Miss Wailes-Wilson, who used to be a school teacher and now lives at Bardon 

Mill, lived as a child in Causeway House. Her uncle (Mr Jack Wilson) owned it, 

and when he died her mother went to live there and looked after the farm for 

several years in the 1920s. Miss Wailes-Wilson and her sister were aged about 

six and eight at that time. She loved living there, but life was very simple, with 

no electric light or running water. The family’s drinking water was fetched from a 

spring to the north of the house, and her mother carried it home in two buckets. 

Her mother made butter in the dairy, and once a week they took their butter and 

eggs to the end of the road; here the produce was picked up and taken to Bardon 

Mill to be sold to the hotels. 

 

Wonderful mushrooms grew in the field in front of the house, and there were lots 

of frogs. At night all you heard was the sound of the cows in the byre. There was 

a ladder from the byre up to the hay loft at the far end from the house. 

 

All the cooking was done on the big range that is still there, It had a good oven 

for baking. They ate their meals at a big square table with a scrubbed top, set in 

front of the fire. In the evenings the table was pushed back, two stools were 

pulled out from under it and the two little girls sat on them in front of the range 

while their mother sat on a wooden armchair. Often she would be making rag 

rugs. There was a tufted rag rug in front of the fire, and two long hooked runners 

at either side of the room, all made from their old clothes. Sometimes neighbours 

came in and joined in the rug-making, a thrifty way of re-cycling old cloth. 

 

Miss Wailes-Wilson remembers the furnishings very clearly. In front of the 

window in the sitting room there was a settle with a slatted back, over which 

hung a hand-knitted rug. On the opposite wall there was a long settle with a 

cupboard below and two shelves above, very spartan and plain. In the recess to 



                                                                     Causeway House History Album 

25 

the right of the stove there stood a tall store cupboard, reaching from floor to 

ceiling; in the recess to the left there was a small table. Against the wall where 

the stairs are there was a treadle sewing machine. The sitting room was papered 

with a flowery paper, and at the window it had short gold-coloured cotton 

curtains hung on a bamboo pole with curtain rings. 

 

The stairs were covered with a hooked runner. Both bedrooms had brass 

bedsteads, and the floors were covered with dingy dark oilcloth: the big bedroom 

had a sheepskin rug, while the girls’ room had a round hooked rug. The main 

bedroom was painted an ugly dark green, and apart from the bed, the only 

furniture in it was a chair and a chest of drawers. Neither of the bedrooms had 

proper curtains, just net ones. 

 

Standing outside the house there were two holly trees, one variegated and one 

the unprickly sort: both carried wonderful berries. 

 

Mrs Wanless 

Mrs Wanless’s family came to live at Causeway House in 1930, when she was 

about ten. 

 

She remembers the sitting room with the big range going. In the evenings the 

family sat round it, with her father on one side, her grandfather on the other, and 

her mother and the five children – three girls and two boys – in between. In the 

winter the men would carve walking stocks. The girls slept upstairs in the 

bedroom next to their parents, the boys on put-you-ups in the sitting room. 

 

Every morning the range had to be re-lit. By the side of the range there was a pot 

set for hot water. They had their baths in a tin bath in front of the range. There 

were candles and lamps, but no electricity. It was a warm house, and very dry. 
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The clothes were washed in the shed behind the house, where there was also the 

earth closet. There was a scullery/pantry against the back of the house, where 

the present kitchen is. 

 

The stable at the east end of the house was used for calves and sometimes for a 

horse. Mrs Wanless remembers milking cows in the byre to the west of the 

house. 

 

There was no running water except for a tap in the byre, but that was water from 

the field drains. They brought up their drinking water in milk churns from a spring 

in a field nearby. 

 

The vegetable garden lay to the east of the house, with a small flower garden in 

front of it. 

 

Mrs Wanless attended school at Henshaw, and used to walk two miles to and 

from school each day. If the family wanted to go shopping they walked the five 

miles to Haltwhistle. 
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What almost happened to Causeway House: the gradual deterioration  
of Cragend, a heather-thatched steading not far away, recorded over  

some fifty or sixty years 
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* Bryophytes are small, non-vascular plants, such as mosses and liverworts. 
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Photographs of re-thatching in 2008 
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